App 143 067
FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 19 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

PETRA SMITH,
Appellant / Petitioner,

v.

FLA. S. CT. NO. 83,243

J. ROBERT FISHMAN,
Appellee / Respondent.

4th DCA CASE NO. 92-00865

_____ /

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal on a Certified Question of Great Public
Importance.

Viktorija L. Gres
Fla. Bar No. 0788473
P.O. Box 923
1121 Crandon Blvd. F307
Key Biscayne, FL 33149-0923

Attorney for Appellant / Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner will be referred to as "former wife" or "Ms. Smith." Respondent will be referred to as "former husband" or "Mr. Fishman."

References to the record on appeal will be designated "(R:)." The transcript of the underlying contempt proceedings appear at pages 1-20, volume 1, of the record; the relevant and most recent financial affidavit of the former wife, Ms. Smith, appears at pages 622-626, volume 4.

Copies of the transcript of the contempt proceedings as well as the trial court's contempt order and the decisions of the District Court can also be found in the Appendix this Brief.

---oOo---

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

THE CASE

Petitioner, Petra Smith, seeks review and reversal of the Fourth District Court of Appeals decision affirming a trial court Order of Contempt for failure to pay certain of her former husband's attorney's fees and costs, arising from visitation enforcement proceedings, and ordering her to be incarcerated, without further hearing, until such time as she pays \$1,000.00 directly to William E. Raikes, III, the former husband's attorney. (R: 629). See also attached Appendix for copy of said order. The Order of Contempt granted Ms. Smith a five day grace period during which time she moved, through counsel, for a stay pending appeal. (R: 630, 633).

The fees and costs that Ms. Smith is ordered to pay the attorney are unrelated to any support obligations she has to her former husband; she has no such obligations. In fact, as will be shown below, it is the husband who is seriously in arrears on his child support obligation.

Initially, the Fourth District affirmed the contempt order by relying in its decision solely on Heitzman v. Heitzman, 281 So. 2d 578 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973), though it had been pointed out to the Court that the decision did not appear to provide support for contempt proceedings for attorney's fees unrelated to child support or alimony. (App. Ehx. 3, Appellant's 4th DCA Reply Brief at 6).¹ However, the District Court did state in this first decision that: "We believe that the enforcement of those [visitation] rights is sufficiently important to authorize the enforcement of a fee order related thereto by the power of contempt." (Fourth District Decision filed Nov. 10, 1993, App. Exh. 3).

¹ Motion was made to the District Court to include with the transmitted record the parties' briefs as well as the motions for reargument. These are necessary to a full understanding to the procedural context of the case and the development of the issues on appeal. Petitioner, Ms. Smith does not seek to argue the case at this point, but since it is petitioner's position that the District Court, essentially sua sponte, sought to create new constitutional law or modify existing constitutional law, it is important to present the exact sequence of steps whereby this case was ultimately certified to this Court.

A second holding in the District Court's very brief decision states that the underlying record supports a finding that Ms. Smith had a "present ability" to pay the contempt order's purge amount:

The record reflects the existence of an available fund from which a substantial portion of the fees could be paid. While the former wife testified she had *pledged* the use of that fund for other purposes, the record also reflects a basis for the trial court to deny credibility to this testimony.

Id. (emphasis added). This holding and the fact that the term *pledge* does not appear anywhere in the record below or in the trial court's contempt order forms the basis for part of petitioner, Ms. Smith's, argument in Point II (A.). Only the term *assignment* appears in the proceedings before the trial court. (R. 11-12, see also R. 1-19, the transcript of the entire contempt proceedings - also at App. Exh. 6).

The trial court had also based its finding of a "present ability" to pay the purge amount based on the fact that, as court stated, Ms. Smith "*will receive* an income tax refund check from the Internal Revenue Service." (Trial court's Contempt Order, App. Exh. 5) (emphasis added). In the contempt proceedings before the trial court Ms. Smith had testified that she had not yet even filed her tax papers. (R. 6-7, 14). The District Court's decision did not address this aspect of the trial court's decision.

Only upon the submission by Ms. Smith, as the appellant below, of extensive motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc, as well as suggestions to certify, did the District Court certify the case to this Honorable Court as raising an issue of great public importance.

Appellant, Ms. Smith, respectfully pointed out to the District Court that, at the very least, its decision created a new exception to established constitutional law prohibiting incarceration for debt, except, of course, for the very limited public policy exception for alimony and child support (and attorney's fees directly related thereto), and created a conflict with decisions of this Supreme Court, other District Courts, as well as with prior decisions of the Fourth District itself. (See generally, Motions for Rehearing and Rehearing En Banc and footnote 1, *supra*).

Additionally, since the District Court seemed to place great reliance on the rather vague language of Heitzman v. Heitzman, supra at p. 2, the unpublished lower court orders in that case were submitted as additional authority to the District Court demonstrating that the attorney's fees sought and allowed to be enforced by order of contempt in that case were, in fact, related to the husband's child support obligations.²

The District Court's decision on rehearing no longer cited Heitzman, but based its denial of rehearing on this Court's decision in Orr v. Orr, 192 So. 466, 141 Fla. 112 (Fla. 19) (discussed infra at Point I (A)). However, the District Court did certify the following question to this Honorable Court:

MAY THE POWER OF CONTEMPT BE USED TO ENFORCE THE PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES DIRECTED TO BE PAID BY ONE FORMER SPOUSE TO THE OTHER FOR FEES INCURRED BY THE LATTER IN ENFORCING VISITATION RIGHTS WITH THE PARTIES' CHILD?

THE FACTS

Ms. Smith is the custodial parent of the couple's five year old son who is presently enrolled on a local pre-school. (R. 232). The former husband relocated to New Jersey sometime in 1991. (R: 567-68). With the former husband providing only nominal child support (and he is

² As was indicated to the District Court below, Petitioner is unaware of any authority or rule that lower court decisions or orders need be judicially noticed by reviewing courts. On the other hand, appellate courts are presumed to rely on the record before them; consequently the District Court was asked to take judicial notice of the Directions to the Clerk filed in Heitzman showing that the Final Judgment (providing for child support) was part of the record before the Fourth District when it made its decision in that case. The District Court's decision on rehearing did not state whether it took judicial notice of the Directions; therefore the request to take judicial notice is repeated with respect to this Honorable Court. (See Motion for Rehearing at pp. 7-8. and Appendix thereto at Exh.s 4 and 5.)

Since Heitzman became an issue on appeal (raised by the former husband's attorney), and was never even cited to the trial court - there is no reason the Court should deny taking judicial notice. Moreover, the discussion surrounding Heitzman concerns an issue of law not fact, to wit, whether there is any precedential authority for allowing contempt and incarceration to enforce the payment of attorney's fees unrelated to child support or alimony.

substantially in arrears on that), Ms. Smith works six days a week to provide for herself and their son. (Id., R: 12).

In January of 1992, attorney William Raikes, assertedly on the former husband's behalf, brought contempt proceedings against Ms. Smith to recover certain of his fees. Civil as well as criminal contempt was alleged, the latter without even attempting to meet procedural requirements. (R: 3, 610-11). At issue were attorney's fees and costs awarded against Ms. Smith in connection with three enforcement proceedings. The underlying issues involved visitation, make-up visitation, and phone contact between the child and former husband. (R: 413, 428, 442).

There is no indication that the lower court made any findings regarding Ms. Smith's ability to actually pay the attorney fees at the time they were assessed. Nor does the order taxing attorney's fees set forth legally required findings regarding the number of hours reasonably and justifiably expended; the court simply held that the attorney was entitled to compensation for "all time expended." Ms. Smith could not afford to appeal these orders. (R: 597, 601&22)

At the hearing on the Motion for Order of Contempt, however, the former wife did establish that her household expenses exceeded her income, she had to borrow money from family and friends to get by, and that she lacked the present ability to pay all or a substantial amount of Mr. Raikes's fees. (R: 4-14). Ms. Smith also testified that she sent Mr. Raikes whatever she could afford on a, more or less, monthly basis. Unfortunately, this only amounted to about ten dollars per month for a total of thirty dollars for the two and half month period from the time the attorney's fees were assessed to the date of the contempt hearing. Id.

Specifically, the court below ordered Ms. Smith to pay Mr. Raikes \$2,875.00 on December 16, 1991. (R: 597-98). Court costs were taxed against her on December 27, 1991. (R: 601). Only days later, on January 7, 1992, Mr. Raikes filed the Motion for Order of Contempt for Ms. Smith's failure to pay the fees and cost. (R: 610-11). The motion also raised allegations of harassment against the former wife. Id. A hearing on the motion for contempt was held before the Honorable John Fennelly on March 6, 1992. (R: 1-20). Mr.

Raikes opened by saying he was seeking attorney's fees as well as an order of indirect criminal contempt for some alleged harassment of his client who, apparently, remained in New Jersey and did not even attend the hearing, whereupon the court informed the attorney that he had failed to meet the procedural requirements for criminal contempt. An order to show cause had not been served, the matter was not properly set for a criminal contempt hearing, etc.. (R: 3). The attorney then proceeded with the real issue at hand, the matter of his fees. Id. He called Ms. Smith to the stand as his sole witness. Id.

Ms. Smith testified that she owed the fees, that she intended to pay the fees, that she was, in fact, making every effort to pay his fees. (R: 4). She further testified that ten dollars per month was all she could presently afford to pay but that she expected to receive a refund on her income taxes from which she would pay additional monies to the attorney. (R: 6-7, 14). At the time of the hearing (March 6), though, she had not yet calculated her taxes and did even not know the amount of the anticipated refund. Id.

Her former husband had sent her \$300.00 in child support two days before the hearing, but was still behind in his support payments in addition to the arrearages he was required to pay on a weekly basis. (R: 6). At the end of December 1991 the arrearages totaled approximately \$4000.00. (R: 604). "I do not get it [child support] on a consistent basis, and it always varies," she explained. Id. Moreover, the child support payments were reduced in November of 1991 by nearly two-thirds to \$57.00 per week plus arrearages by order of the court in modification proceedings. (R: 565-69, 602-07). The former husband had, apparently, injured his back in 1990 which temporarily interrupted his employment. By September 1991, he was working full time though at significantly reduced wages; the court discounted assertions that the former husband was conveniently employed at such reduced wages by his father and noted only that he was *paid* by a friend of his father. (R: 602-607, 554-58).

Mr. Raikes sought to establish several changes in Ms. Smith's income since an October 1991 financial statement, which he did not introduce in evidence at the hearing. (R: 4-5).

However, a contemporaneous financial statement, executed March 5, 1992, and accepted by Mr. Raikes, was submitted into evidence on the former wife's behalf. (R: 6,12). It established \$1465.00 as her total net income per month, and \$1655.00 as monthly expenses not including the payments she had been making to the attorney. (R: 622-26) Thus, Ms. Smith demonstrated a net monthly deficit of, on average, \$190.00 per month to which Mr. Raikes did not object and did not attempt to refute. (R: 6-14).

Mr. Raikes attempted to establish several other sources of funds. Ms. Smith readily testified that her boyfriend occasionally helped her financially in addition to the rent he paid her; the rent was included on the financial statement. (R: 7-8,12). He lent her money and helped her get a car when her old one deteriorated beyond repair; he helped her pay some of her own attorney's fees. (R: 7,14). The attorney attempted to show that Ms. Smith paid back her boyfriend before paying his, Mr. Raikes's, fees but the former wife explained that she had not been able to pay back much. In fact, the only repayment she made to her friend occurred the previous year (long before she was ordered to pay Mr. Raikes) when she paid him about \$1000.00 upon receiving her tax return. (R: 7-8, 597-98). As indicated above, the tax return she was expecting at the time of the hearing had not even been calculated, nor was any evidence submitted that her tax papers had even been filed at that time.

Another alleged source of money of particular interest to Mr. Raikes concerned a \$6,500.00 settlement from a personal injury (auto accident) case in which Ms. Smith had suffered injuries. As the attorney himself put it, "presently there's being held \$6,500.00 by the liability carrier's attorney." (R: 6). *Held ...by the liability carrier's attorney* - the attorney failed to submit any evidence whatever that these funds were available to Ms. Smith or even that they would become available. (R: 4-14). Moreover, Ms. Smith testified that the money had long since been assigned to her previous attorney, Mr. Jerry Randolph, to whom she owed over \$7,300.00. (R: 11-12). The assignment predated the order to pay Mr. Raikes's fees by over a

year. Id. And this did not even include the money owing to the law firm representing Ms. Smith in the personal injury matter.

Finally, Mr. Raikes apparently sought to establish Ms. Smith's father as a source of funds. The father had paid, *the previous year*, for a two week trip to Germany where he lived so that Ms. Smith could visit with him on his 50th birthday. That is, he paid for her plane ticket and her expenses while she stayed with him in Germany. (R: 14-15). One of the two weeks constituted her paid vacation from work, the other week was an unpaid leave. Id.

Additional testimony by the former wife established that she made monthly payments on outstanding balances on several credit cards ranging from about \$30.00 to \$75.00 each, though frequently she would not pay anything depending on her financial circumstances. Most of the credit card companies appeared to have cut off further credit. (R: 8-10).

Ms. Smith explained that she managed to keep from "going under" financially despite her monthly income deficit by skipping payments on her bills and trying to make them up another month, with some assistance from her boyfriend, and "now and then... I do get child support. Up until about four months ago, I did not, so it actually balances itself out," but, she continued, "I don't have any extra money." (R: 13). She stated that she intended to continue to pay some money to Mr. Raikes every month as she had been doing and to pay more when she received her tax refund. (R: 13-14).

At the conclusion of her testimony, the court asked Ms. Smith whether she had the written assignment to Mr. Randolph with her. She did not, but the court was informed by her attorney that Mr. Raikes had deposed Mr. Randolph and, thus, knew not only that Ms. Smith did not have the money in her possession but that there were prior claims to it. Mr. Raikes did not deny this and even offered to "testify briefly" about it. (R: 15).³ Asked by the court what relief he was seeking, he answered:

³ This honorable Court is advised that no reference herein is made to the actual pages of the deposition. Reference is, and has been below before the District Court, solely to the transcript of the contempt hearing before the trial court - at which hearing the deposition was, however,

All right, Your Honor, first of all, we're asking for willful contempt of this court...hold her in contempt and require her to pay a sizable amount to purge herself of contempt. ...

Secondly, Your Honor, *because of the settlement that is pending*, I have been in contact with the attorney for the liability carrier...

...
we are entitled to a writ of garnishment.

(R: 15-17) (italics added). The writ of garnishment was to be for suit money pursuant to F.S. §61.12. The court, however, replied: "But you didn't ask for that." (R: 17). Counsel then reiterated his demand that Ms. Smith be incarcerated "[i]f she doesn't pay." Id. Counsel for Ms. Smith kept pointing out that the former wife should not be held in willful contempt if she lacked the funds to pay. The court, however, appeared to take offense that the original order was not being obeyed:

We disagree, with all due respect. This Court order is going to be obeyed. Its order is going to get real unpleasant.

(R: 18). Then, while accepting Ms. Smith's testimony regarding the existence of the personal injury settlement, the court rejected her sole and un rebutted testimony that the money was not available to her. Id. The court next directed Mr. Raikes to prepare the Order of Contempt. The Order, which issued March 19, 1992, set forth that the former wife's income as \$1,465.00 per month as indicated in her financial affidavit, plus the child support the former husband was supposed to pay. In addition, the order expressly stated that the "former wife has available to her a personal injury settlement in the amount of \$6,500.00 and will receive an income tax refund check from the Internal Revenue Service on her 1991 income tax return." Incarceration was ordered "without further hearing" unless or until the purge amount of \$1,000.00 was paid to the former husband's attorney. The court further assessed additional attorney's fees, the specific

discussed. The legal significance of this colloquy - that Respondent never really challenged the existence of the assignment, while very peripheral to the case, is discussed infra at Point II (B.).

amount to be later determined, against Ms. Smith, again, without any determination of her ability to pay. (R: 629-31).

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed March, 20, 1992. (R: 632).

---oOo---

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

MAY THE POWER OF CONTEMPT BE USED TO ENFORCE THE PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY'S FEES TO BE PAID BY ONE FORMER SPOUSE TO THE OTHER FOR FEES INCURRED BY THE LATTER IN ENFORCING VISITATION RIGHTS WITH THE PARTIES CHILD?

The very straightforward issue in the case is whether to expand the present very limited exception to the general constitutional prohibition against debt, specifically, whether to expand that exception to allow for the collection of attorneys fees, and costs, arising from visitation disputes.

To date, there does not appear to be a single case in the state of Florida, except of course for the one at bar, where a custodial parent has been ordered incarcerated for failing to pay fees to a former spouse's attorney that are unrelated to an underlying child support or alimony obligation.

The certified question should be answered in the negative, first because the constitution expressly prohibits incarceration for debt. Fla. Const. art. 1, §11.

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