### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

SID 1 14/11TE

**Chilef Deputy Clerk** 

PETRA FISHMAN n/k/a PETRA SMITH,

Appellant/Petitioner

FLA. S. CT. NO. 83,243

v.

4th DCA Case No. 92-00865

By

J. ROBERT FISHMAN,

Appellee/Respondent.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal on a Certified Question of Great Public Importance

> WILLIAM E. RAIKES, III Attorney for Appellee/Respondent 100 Avenue A, Suite C Fort Pierce, FL 34950 (407) 595-6654 Florida Bar #321771

###

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

Although the case of <u>Price v. Price</u>, 382 So.2d 433 (1st DCA 1980) is actually a probate case, the underlying rationale for the Court's ruling in <u>Price</u> supports the enforceability of attorney's fees by contempt as a marital obligation, just like alimony or child support, which must be treated differently than a debt for

which imprisonment may not be imposed. The Price case is similar to the instant case because there was no timely appeal from the judgment awarding attorney's fees, and therefore, the Appeals Court was foreclosed from considering whether the award of fees itself was proper. The only issue before the Court in both instances was the enforceability of the attorney's fees by the power of contempt. Although the fact situation of Price is distinguishable, the underlying reasoning and rationale for the Court's ruling is directly applicable to the facts in this case. The Price Court determined that parties to whom attorney's fees are awarded under Section 61.16, Florida Statutes, may enforce them by contempt because there is an "assumed necessity for special protection and enforcement of rights growing out of the marriage relationship." Price at Page 437. The Court, noting that there is no distinction between alimony and suit money both of which are duties owed to society, stated:

> "That the wife, as well as the husband, was made subject to liability for alimony and attorney's fees did not alter the basic principle that only obligations of the parties to the marriage relationship, owed to each other, are to be treated differently from 'debts' for which imprisonment may not be imposed under the Constitution." <u>Price</u> at Page 437.

Logically, there is no reason to conclude that support payments owed by one spouse or former spouse to the other are a duty while the attorney's fees are not a duty but a debt. The duty to pay attorney's fees by one spouse to another is certainly distinguishable from those situations in which one spouse or the other takes responsibility for paying a debt such as a mortgage payment or from situations in which enforcement of property rights is attempted by contempt. See <u>Filan v. Filan</u>, 549 So.2d 1105 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989). Appellant cites the <u>Filan</u> case in support of Appellant's argument (see Page 22 of Appellant's Brief), but <u>Filan</u> involved an obligation by the husband to pay a second mortgage on the marital home. The Court held that the husband's obligation to pay the second mortgage was not enforceable by contempt because it was in the nature of a settlement of property rights. <u>Filan</u> is clearly distinguishable because it involved a case of an obligation to pay a third party debt versus a duty by one spouse to pay the other which is enforceable by contempt. <u>Price</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The Appellant concedes and it has long been the law in the State of Florida that the denial of visitation rights to the father by the arbitrary and capricious conduct of the mother "may be adjudicated in a contempt proceeding." Lee v. Lee, 43 So.2d 904 (Fla. 1950). Appellant has also admitted that the enforcement of alimony and child support orders along with an accompanying award of attorney's fees may all be enforceable by contempt. Nevertheless, Appellant somehow concludes that the enforcement of attorney's fees awarded when one is held in contempt for violating the visitation provisions of an order or final judgment are not enforceable by contempt; yet Appellant fails to suggest any rational basis or public policy consideration for distinguishing the latter attorney's fee award from the former. The same rationale which justifies an exception to the constitutional

prohibition against imprisonment for debt applies equally to the enforcement of attorney's fees for failure to pay support and for failure to abide by visitation provisions of an order or final judgment. The payments of support and the granting of visitation privileges are but the flip side of the same coin. Both are marital duties owed by one spouse to another. There is no rational basis and, in fact, it would be totally unjust and inequitable to permit enforcement of attorney's fees awards by contempt in the case of child support yet deny such enforcement in the case of visitation.

Every family practitioner in the State of Florida and every family court recognizes that the availability of the contempt remedy is much more likely to ensure the payment of alimony, support, attorney's fees or compliance with visitation privileges than any other remedy. The fact that the attorney's fees, which are usually awarded whenever a father or mother violates a child or visitation provision of a final judgment, support are enforceable by contempt makes it less likely that there will be continuing violations of either child support or visitation provisions of an order. Both child support and visitation are equally important to the stability of the family and to minimizing the damage of a divorce to the minor children. If this Court were to adopt as a rule of law the position of the Appellant, such a rule of law would be tantamount to saying that the receipt of money to support a child is more important than a child's receiving the love, affection and companionship of the non-custodial parent.

Enforcement of visitation rights with an accompanying award of attorney's fees enforceable by contempt is just as essential to meeting the best interests of a child as the receiving of support. There is no rational basis for making any distinction and this Court should refuse to do so.

contempt becomes unavailable as а remedy for the Τf enforcement of attorney's fees in cases of denial of visitation, such a policy will have a chilling effect on the ability of the non-custodial parent, when he is in a financially inferior position, to obtain representation. The Former Husband/Appellee, ROBERT FISHMAN, had difficulty keeping an attorney and paying his attorney's fees (Appellee's attorney does not have actual copies of the pleadings but believes this is documented in the record as follows: R. 164-165, 179 through 191, 228-229, 399-400). At the same time that the Appellee had to seek three separate contempt citations in a period of approximately four months for violation of his visitation rights, he also was forced into bankruptcy (R. 482) and was granted a reduction in his child support from \$148.00 per week to \$57.00 per week based on a reduction in his income from \$653.00 to \$220.00 per week. His loss of income resulted from an automobile accident suffered by the Former Husband on September 29, 1990 which resulted in a herniated disc. (See Findings of Fact in the Order Modifying Final Judgment; R. 565-569). If this Court holds that attorney's fees recovered as a result of enforcing visitation rights are not enforceable by contempt, then most noncustodial parents in the financial position of the Appellee in this

case will be without representation and cut off from their minor children whenever visitation is denied by the arbitrary and capricious acts of the custodial parent. It will become difficult for non-custodial parents to obtain representation because the likelihood of payment of attorney's fees will be drastically reduced.

Assuming that Appellant is correct and that only support orders are enforceable by contempt as an exception to the constitutional prohibition against imprisonment for debt, the Appellee should still prevail. All awards of attorney's fees including awards of attorney's fees in enforcement actions require a consideration of the financial resources of both parties. Section 61.16, Florida Statutes. Even though a party is held in contempt for failure to comply with a provision of a Final Judgment Dissolution of Marriage, an award of attorney's fees is not automatic because the financial resources of the parties, including need and ability to pay, remain one of the factors that the Court must consider in making such an award. Warnhoff v. Warnhoff, 493 So.2d 52 (4th DCA 1986). The Appellant stated her total net income to be \$1,465.00 in her Financial Affidavit (R. 622-626). In addition, she was receiving \$57.00 per week for child support and \$15.00 per week in arrearage payments from the Appellee which were only two weeks behind (T. 6). The Former Husband's gross income, after subtracting child support, was \$636.40 per month, based on the Court's findings in the Order Modifying Child Support (R. 565-569), while the Former Wife's income was \$1,774.60 per month

including child support and arrearage payments. The Appellee was clearly in an inferior financial position which justified an award of attorney's fees based on the Appellee's need and the Appellant's ability to pay under Section 61.16, Florida Statutes. Even if this Court accepts the Appellant's argument, that only attorney's fees awards in the nature of support are excepted from the constitutional prohibition against imprisonment for debt, there is ample basis in the record to find that the attorney's fee award was in the nature of a support order.

Lastly, Appellant argues under Point I(B) of her Brief that District Court has fashioned a new exception to the the constitutional prohibition against imprisonment for debt, exceeded its jurisdiction and violated longstanding Supreme Court precedent. Appellant's argument fails because the Fourth District Court of Appeal's ruling in this case does not conflict with any Supreme Court decision. There is no Supreme Court decision prohibiting the enforcement of attorney's fees awarded as a result of enforcement of visitation rights by contempt. Furthermore, Appellant's argument that the Fourth District Court of Appeal dropped its reliance on <u>Heitzman, supra</u>, is without support in the record. In fact, Appellee can find no case in which Florida Courts have refused to enforce attorney's fees owed by one spouse or former spouse to another by contempt. The special nature of financial obligations owed between spouses or former spouses, including the payment of attorney's fees owed by one to the other, have always been recognized as a duty not a debt. Such marital obligitons have

always been recognized as an exception to the constitutional prohibition against imprisonment for debt.

#### POINT II

# THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY HELD THE FORMER WIFE IN CIVIL CONTEMPT AND PROPERLY ORDERED HER INCARCERATION WITH <u>AN APPROPRIATE MONETARY PURGE REQUIREMENT</u>

The Trial Court complied with the requirements of this Court as enunciated in the case of <u>Bowen v. Bowen</u>, 471 So.2d 1274 (Fla. 1985) in finding the Former Wife in willful contempt of Court for violating the Court's Order to pay attorney's fees of December 16, 1991 (R. 597-598) and the Court's Order requiring the payment of costs dated December 27, 1991 (R. 601) and in ordering the incarceration of the Former Wife if she did not purge herself of contempt by paying \$1,000.00 within five days of the date of the Order.

Bowen did not expressly address the issue of contempt for nonpayment of attorney's fees, but the Court promulgated certain guidelines for civil contempt proceedings which are applicable to the instant case:

1. The movant must establish that a prior court order required a monetary payment which has not been paid.

2. The burden of proof then shifts to the defaulting party who must come forward with evidence to dispel the presumption that she had the ability to pay and has willfully disobeyed the Court Order; and

3. If contempt is found, the Trial Judge must separately find that the contemnor has the present ability to pay the purge amount before incarceration can be imposed to obtain compliance with the

### Court Order. Bowen, supra.

The Trial Court complied with this Court's guidelines for civil contempt proceedings and its ruling should be affirmed by this Court.

The evidence of the Former Wife's willful violation of the Court's Order was overwhelming. Although the Court ordered the Former Wife/Appellant to pay the Former Husband's attorney's fees of \$2,875.00, the Former Wife instead chose to add cable TV as an additional household expense of \$35.00 per month (T. 5); made payments on a closed Beall's Credit Card of \$50.00 per month (T. 9); made payments on a closed Discover Card of \$45.00 per month (T. 9); made payments on a closed JC Penney Card of \$30.00 per month (T. 9-10); made payments on an open Discover Card of \$75.00 per month (T. 10); made payments to her own attorney from monies given to her by her boyfriend, Mr. Riley (T. 8); and took time off from her job without pay to go to Germany (T. 14). Despite all of this testimony, the Former Wife had the audacity to testify that she could only afford to pay \$10.00 per month on the attorney's fees and that this is all she could pay (T. 4).

At the time of the contempt hearing on March 6, 1992, the Former Husband was obligated to pay \$57.00 per week for child support plus an arrearage payment of \$15.00 per week for a total of \$72.00 per week (or \$309.60 per month) (R. 565-569). At the time of the hearing, the Former Wife testified that the Former Husband was only two weeks behind (T. 6). If the child support and arrearage payments are taken into account and added to the Former Wife's net income, the Former Wife actually had a surplus of over

\$100.00 per month contrary to her claim of a deficit which is shown in her Financial Affidavit (R. 622). From the Former Wife's testimony and Financial Affidavit alone, only one conclusion was possible. The Former Wife blatantly ignored the Court's Order to pay attorney's fees and costs and willfully disobeyed the Court's Order.

Appellant states in her Brief (Page 26) that "these were not token payments." Such a statement is absurd. The attorney's fee Order was entered on December 16, 1991 and the contempt hearing was held almost three months later on March 6, 1992. During this eleven week period, the Former Wife paid only \$30.00 on Court ordered attorney's fees and costs of over \$3,000.00 while receiving over \$4,000.00 in income, rental payments from her boyfriend, and child support and arrearage payments (even assuming that the Former Husband was two weeks behind in his support). The record contains substantial competent evidence to support the finding of contempt in this case and such finding should not be disturbed on appeal. <u>Raheb v. Battisto</u>, 483 So.2d 475 (3rd DCA 1986).

Under <u>Bowen</u>, the lower court must also make a separate finding that the contemnor has the present ability to pay the purge amount before incarceration can be imposed. The Appellant has challenged the Trial Court's authority to find the Former Wife's testimony that she did not have access to a personal injury settlement of \$6,500.00 as "not credible". The Trial Court's function is to weigh the testimony and evidence adduced at the hearing below based on the lower court's observation of the bearing, demeanor and credibility of the witnesses appearing. This Court has no

authority on appeal to substitute its judgment for that of the Trial Court regarding the credibility of the Former Wife. <u>Raheb</u>, <u>supra</u>.

In her Brief, Appellant argues that the Former Wife's testimony in regard to the personal injury settlement was "unimpeached and uncontradicted", thus the Trial Court could not disregard or reject her testimony and, therefore, Appellee failed to prove that the Appellant/Former Wife was able to purge herself by paying \$1,000.00 within five days of the date of the Order (T. 18: there is a typographical error on Page 18, Line 12 of the Transcript which states that the purge amount is \$5,000.00; the purge amount is actually \$1,000.00). Appellant's argument fails for two reasons: (i) The testimony of the Former Wife was impeached, and (ii) there was evidence of the source of other funds from which to pay the purge amount.

In <u>Roach v. CSX Transportation, Inc.</u>, 598 So.2d 246 (1st DCA 1992), the Court considered the rule that undisputed evidence must be accepted as true and that finders of fact are not free to disbelieve such evidence and make findings contrary to it. In Appellant's Brief, Appellant cites this case for the general proposition as follows:

> "Where the testimony on the pivotal issues of fact is not contradicted or <u>impeached in</u> <u>any respect</u>, and no conflicting evidence is introduced, these statements of fact cannot be wholly disregarded or arbitrarily rejected. Rather, the testimony should be accepted as proof of the issue for which it is tendered, even though given by an interested party, so long as it consists of fact, as distinguished from opinion, and is not essentially illegal, inherently improbable or unreasonable, contrary to natural laws, opposed to common

# knowledge, or contradictory within itself." <u>Roach</u>, <u>supra</u> at Page 249.

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